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Jack Silver, Esquire SBN# 160575
Law Office of Jack Silver
Jerry Bernhaut, Esquire SBN# 206264
Post Office Box 5469
Santa Rosa, California 95402-5469
Telephone: (707) 528-8175
Facsimile:  (707) 528-8675
lhm28843@sbcglobal.net

Attorneys for Plaintiff
NORTHERN CALIFORNIA RIVER WATCH

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

EASTERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

NORTHERN CALIFORNIA RIVER
WATCH, a non-profit corporation.

                              Plaintiffs, 
v. 

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE
I N T E R I O R ,  B U R E A U  O F  L A N D
MANAGEMENT,  TIMOTHY A CALLAWAY,
an individual, GERHARD NEL, an individual, DR.
RENE M. JUCHLER, an individual, PAUL
HABER, an individual, DR. JORG OTZEN an
individual and DOES 1 - 10, Inclusive,

Defendants
                                                                             /

CASE NO.:

COMPLAINT FOR INJUNCTIVE
RELIEF, CIVIL PENALTIES,
RESTITUTION AND REMEDIATION
(Environmental  - Clean Water Act - 33 U.S.C.
§ 1251 et seq, Resource Conservation and
Recovery Act -  42 U.S.C. § 6901 et seq.

NOW COMES PLAINTIFF NORTHERN CALIFORNIA RIVER WATCH a non-profit

corporation (hereafter, “RIVER WATCH”), by and through its attorneys, and for its Complaint against

Defendants, UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR, BUREAU OF LAND

MANAGEMENT, TIMOTHY A CALLAWAY, GERHARD NEL,  DR. RENE M. JUCHLER,  PAUL

HABER, DR. JORG OTZEN and DOES 1-10, Inclusive, (hereafter collectively, “DEFENDANTS”),

states as follows:

I.  NATURE OF THE CASE

1.  This is a citizens’ suit for relief brought by RIVER WATCH under the Federal Water Pollution

Control Act, also known as the Clean Water Act (hereafter, “CWA”), 33 U.S.C. § 1251 et seq.,
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COMPLAINT FOR INJUNCTIVE RELIEF                        2                                                                             

specifically CWA § 505, 33 U.S.C. § 1365, 33 U.S.C. § 1311 and 33 U.S.C. § 1342, to stop

DEFENDANTS  from repeated and ongoing violations of the CWA.  These violations are detailed in the

Notices of Violations and Intent to File Suit Under the Clean Water Act dated March 4, 2009 and July

3, 2009 made part of this pleading and attached hereto as EXHIBIT A (hereafter, “CWA NOTICES”).

2. This is a also a citizens’  suit brought against DEFENDANTS under the citizen suit enforcement

provisions of the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, (hereafter, “RCRA”) 42 U.S.C. § 6901 et

seq., specifically RCRA § 7002(a)(1)(A), 42 U.S.C. § 6972(a)(1)(A) and RCRA § 7002(a)(1)(B), 42

U.S.C. § 6972(a)(1)(B),  to stop DEFENDANTS from repeated and ongoing violations of the RCRA.

These violations are detailed in the Notices of Violations and Intent to File Suit Under the Resource

Conservation and Recovery Act dated March 4, 2009 and July 2, 2009,  made part of this pleading and

attached hereto as EXHIBIT B (hereafter, “RCRA NOTICES”).

3. RIVER WATCH alleges DEFENDANTS are routinely violating the terms and conditions of

California’s General Industrial Storm Water Permit for Industrial Storm Water Discharges (WDID

228S003380), National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (“NPDES”) General Permit No.

CAS000001 [State Water Resources Control Board] Water Quality Order No. 97-03-DWQ and Water

Quality Order No. 91-13-DWQ (as amended by Water Quality Order 92-12-DWQ) issued pursuant to

CWA § 402(p), 33 U.S.C. § 1342(p) (hereafter, “General Permit”), by their un-permitted discharges of

contaminated storm water from DEFENDANTS’ Washington Mine site and facilities as described in the

CWA NOTICES attached hereto, their discharges of non-storm water pollutants from their site and

facilities in violation of effluent limitations; and, their violations of the procedural requirements of the

General Permit. 

4. RIVER WATCH alleges DEFENDANTS are routinely violating the terms and conditions of the

General Permit by permitting pollutants found in milling process water, in drainage from the Washington

Mine sites including vehicle and equipment fueling areas, in actively used mine locations, in materials

stored on site, and from road maintenance, to be carried by storm water and discharged into adjacent

surface waters, including Scorpion Gulch Creek and French Gulch Creek.
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5. RIVER WATCH alleges DEFENDANTS are routinely violating the CWA’s prohibition against

discharging a pollutant from a point source to waters of the United States without a NPDES permit, CWA

§ 301(a), 33 U.S.C. § 1311(a), in the course of their operation of the Washington Mine site and facilities

as described in the CWA NOTICES.  Point source discharges to waters of the United States occur every

day via groundwater migration due to the hydrological connection between the various adits and other

current and former operational sites, as described in the CWA NOTICES,  and adjacent surface waters,

including Scorpion Gulch Creek and French Gulch Creek, tributaries to Whiskeytown Reservoir, all

waters of the United States.

6. RIVER WATCH alleges DEFENDANTS are routinely violating the CWA’s prohibition against

discharging a pollutant from a point source to waters of the United States without a NPDES permit by

permitting wastewater and acid drainage via surface flows by gravity from the Robillard, I-Level and

Barnes Adits of the Washington Mine site and facilities  into adjacent surface waters including Scorpion

Gulch Creek and French Gulch Creek, and by wastewater flow from a retention pond  through a pipeline

over ground to the Right Fork of French Gulch Creek, all described in detail in the CWA NOTICES. 

7. RIVER WATCH alleges DEFENDANTS are also routinely violating the Regional Water Quality

Control Board’s Water Quality Control Plan or ‘Basin Plan’ for the North Coast Region, Environmental

Protection Agency (hereafter, “EPA”) regulations codified in the Code of Federal Regulations, and toxics

standards promulgated by the State Water Resources Control Board (hereafter, “SWRCB”),in the course

of their operation of the Washington Mine.

8. Under 33 U.S.C. § 1251(e), Congress declared its goals and policies with regard to public

participation in the enforcement of the CWA.  33 U.S.C. §§1251(e) provides, in pertinent part:

Public participation in the development, revision, and enforcement of any regulation,

standard, effluent limitation, plan or program established by the Administrator or any State

under this chapter shall be provided for, encouraged, and assisted by the Administrator and

the States. 
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9. RIVER WATCH alleges DEFENDANTS illegally discharge to waters which are habitat for 

threatened or endangered species as that term is defined by the California EPA and the United States

EPA.

10. RIVER WATCH alleges DEFENDANTS are routinely violating the RCRA’s regulatory mandates

applicable  to hazardous or solid wastes, by causing toxic metals, such as arsenic and other hazardous

wastes to be discharged or deposited where they are or probably will be discharged into waters of the

State, thereby creating or threatening to create conditions of pollution of nuisance. 42 U.S.C. §

6972(a)(1)(A).

11. RIVER WATCH alleges DEFENDANTS are routinely violating the RCRA's prohibition against

creating an imminent and substantial endangerment to human health and the environment by their

operations at the Washington Mine Site and facilities as identified in the RCRA NOTICES, which have

caused contamination of soil, groundwater and surface water. 42 U.S.C. § 6972(a)(1)(B).  Pollutants at

the Washington Mine Site leach into groundwater from a former percolation pond, a former tailings

settling pond, a former stockpiling area for materials and supplies, improper disposal of process water

and on-site reclamation of previously disturbed areas with mine waste rock which contain a high

concentration of arsenic. 

12. RIVER WATCH seeks declaratory relief, injunctive relief to prohibit future violations, the

 imposition of civil penalties, and other relief for DEFENDANTS' violations of the terms of the General

Permit , violations of the CWA’s prohibition of discharging a pollutant from a point source to waters of

the United States without a NPDES permit, violations of the RCRA’s standards and regulations

applicable to hazardous or solid wastes, and violation of the RCRA's  prohibition against creating an

imminent and substantial endangerment to human health and the environment. 

II.   PARTIES

13. Plaintiff NORTHERN CALIFORNIA RIVER WATCH is now and at all times mentioned in this

Complaint was, a 501(c)(3) non-profit public benefit corporation duly organized under the laws of the

State of California, with headquarters and main office located at 500 North Main Street, Suite 110,

Sebastopol, California.  RIVER WATCH  is dedicated to protecting, enhancing and helping to restore
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the surface and subsurface waters of Northern California.  Its members live in Northern California

including Shasta County where the above-referenced Washington Mine facilities under DEFENDANTS’

operation and/or control are located.  Said  members live nearby to waters affected by DEFENDANTS’

illegal discharges as alleged in this Complaint.  Said members have interests in the effected watersheds

which are or may be adversely affected by DEFENDANTS’ violations as alleged in this Complaint.   Said

members use the effected waters and watershed areas for domestic water, recreation, sports, fishing,

swimming, hiking, photography, nature walks, religious, spiritual and shamanic practices, and the like.

Furthermore, the relief sought will redress the injury in fact, likelihood of future injury and interference

with the interests of said members.

14. RIVER WATCH is informed and believes and thereon alleges that Defendant UNITED STATES.

DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR is now and was at all times mentioned in this Complaint a

governmental entity, with administrative offices located at 1849 C Street N.W., Washington, DC 20240.

15. RIVER WATCH is informed and believes and thereon alleges that Defendant BUREAU OF

 LAND MANAGEMENT is now and was at all times mentioned in this Complaint a governmental entity,

operating under the authority of Defendant UNITED STATES  DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR,

with administrative offices in California located at 2800 Cottage Way, Suite W-1623, Sacramento,

California 95825.   The Washington Mine complex  and mill which are the subject of this Complaint are

on both patented and un-patented claims.   RIVER WATCH further alleges the un-patented land is owned

by Defendants UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR, BUREAU OF LAND

MANAGEMENT and is administered by Defendant BUREAU OF LAND MANAGEMENT.

16. RIVER WATCH is informed and believes and thereon alleges that Defendant TIMOTHY A

 CALLAWAY is now, and at all times mentioned in this Complaint was, an individual residing in Reno,

Nevada. 

17. RIVER WATCH is informed and believes and thereon alleges that Defendant GERHARD NEL

 is now, and at all times mentioned in this Complaint was, an individual residing in Shasta County,

California. 
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18. RIVER WATCH is informed and believes and thereon alleges that Defendant DR. RENE M.

 JUCHLER is now, and at all times mentioned in this Complaint was, an individual residing in Reno,

Nevada.

19. RIVER WATCH is informed and believes and thereon alleges that Defendant PAUL HABER is

 now, and at all times mentioned in this Complaint was, an individual residing in Reno, Nevada.

20. RIVER WATCH is informed and believes and thereon alleges that Defendant  DR. JORG

OTZEN is now, and at all times mentioned in this Complaint was, an individual residing in Reno,

Nevada.

21. Defendants TIMOTHY CALLAWAY, GERHARD NEL, DR. RENE M. JUCHLER, PAUL 

HABER and DR. JORG OTZEN are referred to collectively hereafter as “INDIVIDUAL

DEFENDANTS”.

22. Defendants DOES 1 - 10, Inclusive, respectively, are now, and at all times mentioned in this

Complaint were, persons, partnerships, corporations and entities, who are, or were, responsible for, or

in some way contributed to, the violations which are the subject of this Complaint or are, or were,

responsible for the maintenance, supervision, management, operations, or insurance coverage of

DEFENDANTS’ Washington Mine site facilities and operations.   The names, identities, capacities, and

functions of Defendants named herein as DOES 1 - 10, Inclusive are presently unknown to RIVER

WATCH, which  shall seek leave of court to amend this Complaint to insert the true names of said DOES

Defendants when the same have been ascertained.

III.  JURISDICTIONAL ALLEGATIONS

23. Subject matter jurisdiction is conferred upon this Court by CWA § 505(a)(1), 33 U.S.C. §

1365(a)(1), which states in part,

“any citizen may commence a civil action on his own behalf against any person . . .

.who is alleged to be in violation of (A) an effluent standard or limitation . . . . or (B)

an order issued by the Administrator or a State with respect to such a standard or

limitation.”  For purposes of CWA § 505, “the term ‘citizen’ means a person or persons

having an interest which is or may be adversely affected.”
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24. Subject matter jurisdiction is conferred upon this Court by RCRA § 7002(a)(1), 42 U.S.C. §

6972(a)(1), which states in part, 

"...any person may commence a civil action on his own behalf (A) against any person

... who is alleged to be in violation of any permit, standard, regulation, condition

requirement , prohibition or order which has become effective pursuant to this chapter,

or (B) against any person ...who has contributed or who is contributing to the past or

present handling, storage, treatment, transportation or disposal of any solid or hazardous

waste which may present an imminent and substantial endangerment to health or the

environment."

25. Pursuant to CWA § 505(b)(1)(A), 33 U.S.C.§ 1365(b)(1)(A), RIVER WATCH gave notice of the

CWA violations alleged in this Complaint more than sixty (60) days prior to commencement of this

lawsuit, to: (a) DEFENDANTS, (b) the United States EPA, Federal and Regional, and (c) the State of

California Water Resources Control Board.

26. Pursuant to CWA § 505(c)(3), 33 U.S.C. § 1365(c)(3), a copy of this Complaint has been served

on the United States Attorney General and the Administrator of the Federal EPA.

27. Pursuant to RCRA § 7002 (2)(A), 42 U.S.C. §6972(2)(A), RIVER WATCH gave notice of the

RCRA violations alleged in this Complaint more than ninety (90) days prior to the commencement of this

lawsuit to: (a)  DEFENDANTS, (b) the United States EPA, Federal and Regional,(c) the State of

California Water Resources Control Board, and (d) the State of California Integrated Waste Management

Board.

28. Pursuant to CWA § 505(c)(1), 33 U.S.C. § 1365(c)(1), venue lies in this District as the

Washington Mine site and facilities under DEFENDANTS’ operation and/or control, and where RIVER

WATCH alleges illegal discharges have occurred, and which are the source of the violations complained

of in this Complaint, are located within this District.

29. The basis for assignment of this case to the Eastern District of California, pursuant to RCRA

§ 7002(a) and  § 7002(b), 42 U.S.C. §  6972(a) and § 6972(b), is that the Washington Mine site and

facilities under DEFENDANTS’ operation and/or control, and where RIVER WATCH alleges illegal
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discharges have occurred, which are the source of the violations complained of in this Complaint, are

located within this District.  All of the sites of pollution complained of herein are located in the Eastern

District of California as well.

IV.  GENERAL ALLEGATIONS

  RIVER WATCH  incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 29 above, including the CWA

NOTICES and RCRA NOTICES  as though fully set forth herein; and, alleges as follows:

30. Defendants U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR,  BUREAU OF LAND MANAGEMENT,

own  the un-patented portion of the Washington Mine, located approximately 2.6 air miles northwest of

French Gulch in western Shasta County, California. (hereafter, “the MINE”).   The MINE has historically

been used solely for the extraction and processing of gold-containing ore. The MINE discharges

pollutants both directly and indirectly into the waterways referenced below.

31. INDIVIDUAL DEFENDANTS are past or present managers and/or employees of Bullion River

 Gold Corporation and its wholly owned subsidiary French Gulch (Nevada) Mining Corporation  –

owners of the MINE.   INDIVIDUAL DEFENDANTS are persons who have contributed and/or are

contributing to the violations alleged in this Complaint by virtue of their active participation, supervision

and/or authorization of activities which constitute the alleged violations.

32. All illegal discharges and activities complained of in this Complaint occur in the waterways

named in the CWA NOTICES and RCRA NOTICES, all of which are waters of the United States, and

at the MINE site locations identified in detail in the CWA NOTICES and RCRA NOTICES.

33. The Regional Water Quality Control Board (hereafter, “RWQCB”), has determined that the

watershed areas and affected waterways identified in the CWA NOTICES and RCRA NOTICES are

beneficially used for drinking water, water contact recreation, non-contact water recreation, fresh water

habitat, wildlife habitat, preservation of rare and endangered species, fish migration, fish spawning,

industrial service supply, navigation, and sport fishing.

V.   STATUTORY AND REGULATORY BACKGROUND

  RIVER WATCH  incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 33 above, including the CWA

NOTICES and RCRA NOTICES, as though fully set forth herein; and, allege as follows

Case 2:09-at-01441     Document 2      Filed 09/08/2009     Page 8 of 76
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34. CWA § 301(a), 33 U.S.C. § 1311(a), prohibits the discharge of pollutants from a “point source”

into the navigable waters of the United States unless such discharge is in compliance with applicable

effluent limitations as set by the EPA and the applicable State agency.  These limits are to be incorporated

into a NPDES permit for that point source specifically. Additional sets of regulations are set forth in the

Basin Plan, California Toxics Plan, the Code of Federal Regulation and other regulations promulgated

by the EPA and the SWRCB.   CWA § 301(a) prohibits discharges of pollutants or activities not

authorized by, or in violation of an effluent standard or limitation or an order issued by the EPA or a State

with respect to such a standard or limitation including a NPDES permit issued pursuant to CWA § 402,

33 U.S.C. § 1342.  The MINE is a  point source under the CWA.

35. The affected waterways detailed in this Complaint and in the CWA NOTICES are navigable

waters of the United States within the meaning of CWA § 502(7), 33 U.S.C. § 1362(7).

36. The Administrator of the EPA has authorized the RWQCB to issue NPDES permits subject to

specified conditions and requirements pursuant to CWA § 402, 33 U.S.C. § 1342.

37. DEFENDANTS have no NPDES Permit for discharging pollutants other than storm water to 

waters of the United States.  Without a NPDES Permit, all unauthorized point source discharges from the

MINE to waters of the United States are illegal.  The MINE is itself a point source.  Discharges from this

point source via tributary groundwater to waters of the United States, without a NPDES Permit, are

illegal. Direct discharges from this point source via surface flows and pipeline are illegal.

38. CWA § 402(p), 33 U.S.C. § 1342; 40 C.F.R. § 122.26,  prohibits industrial storm water discharges

without a permit. For storm water discharges allowed under CWA § 402(p), the General Permit requires

dischargers in operation prior to October 1, 1992, to have developed and implemented a Storm Water

Pollution Prevention Plan or “SWPPP”.    DEFENDANTS owned and/or  operated the MINE prior to

October 1, 1992 and continue to own and/or operate the MINE.  DEFENDANTS have not fully

developed and/or adequately implemented a SWPPP for their mining operations, as evidenced by the fact

that DEFENDANTS have failed to eliminate non-storm water discharges from the MINE.

39. RCRA § 7002(a)(1)(A), 42 U.S.C. § 6972(a)(1)(A) permits an action against any person who

violates a permit, standard or regulation pursuant to the RCRA.  DEFENDANTS have stored, handled

Case 2:09-at-01441     Document 2      Filed 09/08/2009     Page 9 of 76
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and disposed of materials containing arsenic and other toxic metals defined as hazardous wastes under

the RCRA in a manner which has allowed these pollutants to be discharged to soil and groundwater

beneath and adjacent to the MINE,  in violation of regulations regarding the use and disposal of hazardous

wastes. RCRA § 3004(d), 42 U.S.C. § 6924(d).

40. RCRA § 7002(a)(1)(B), 42 U.S.C. § 6972(a)(1)(B) permits an action against any person who has

contributed to or who is contributing to the past or present handling of any solid or hazardous waste

which may present an imminent and substantial endangerment to health or the environment.  Tailings

residue at the MINE after gold is separated from the ore, and the waste rock generated by the mining

operations are solid wastes and hazardous wastes pursuant to RCRA § 6903(27), 42 U.S.C. § 6972(27)

and RCRA § 6903(5), 42 U.S.C. § 6972(5).    Pollutants from these substances have leached into soil and

groundwater beneath and adjacent to the MINE site, creating an imminent and substantial endangerment

to health and the environment.

VI.   DEFENDANTS’ VIOLATIONS

RIVER WATCH incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 40 above, including the CWA

NOTICE and RCRA NOTICES, as though fully set forth herein; and, alleges as follows:

41. DEFENDANTS’ point source discharges not regulated by a NPDES permit violate the CWA’s

 prohibition against discharge of pollutants from a point source without a NPDES permit.    The violations

are established in the RWQCB’s files for the MINE, as well as in studies conducted by DEFENDANTS

in compliance with orders from regulatory agencies.  The enumerated violations are detailed in the CWA

NOTICES designating the section of the CWA violated by the described activity. 

42. DEFENDANTS'  failure to comply with the terms of the General Permit violates the CWA’s

prohibition against the discharge of contaminated storm water and non-storm water pollutants.  The

violations are established in DEFENDANTS’ monitoring data or lack of monitoring and reporting which

are necessary  for DEFENDANTS to prove compliance with the General Permit,  as well as data sent to

the RWQCB by DEFENDANTS and data by RWQCB staff recording direct observations.  The

enumerated violations are detailed in the CWA NOTICES designating the section of the CWA violated

by the described activity.
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43. The location of the discharges are the discharge points as described in the CWA NOTICES, and

as described in DEFENDANTS' inadequate SWPPP.

44. DEFENDANTS’ discharges to soil and groundwater at the MINE violate the RCRA’s regulations

 regarding the storage and disposal of hazardous wastes.  The violations are established in files of the

RWQCB for the MINE,  as well as in studies conducted by DEFENDANTS in compliance with orders

from regulatory agencies.

45. DEFENDANTS' discharges to soil and groundwater violate the RCRA's  prohibition against 

creating an imminent and substantial endangerment to health and the environment.  The violations are

established in files of the RWQCB for the MINE, as well as in studies conducted by DEFENDANTS in

compliance with orders from regulatory agencies .   The enumerated violations are detailed in the RCRA

NOTICES designating the section of the RCRA violated by the described activity. 

VII.  FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF

Violations  of the CWA 

 33 U.S.C. §  1251 et seq., 33 U.S.C. § § 1342 (a) and (b),  33 U.S.C. § 1311 

(Discharge of Pollutants from Point Sources Must be Regulated by a NPDES Permit)

RIVER WATCH  incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 45 above, including the CWA

NOTICES, as though fully set forth herein, and alleges as follows:

46. DEFENDANTS have violated and continue to violate the CWA as evidenced by the discharges

of pollutants from a point source without a NPDES permit in violation of CWA § 301,  33 U.S.C. § 1311.

47.  The violations of DEFENDANTS are ongoing and will continue after the filing of this

Complaint.   RIVER WATCH alleges herein all violations which may have occurred or will occur prior

to trial, but for which data may not have been available or submitted or apparent from the face of the

reports or data submitted by DEFENDANTS to the RWQCB or to RIVER WATCH prior to the filing

of this Complaint.  RIVER WATCH will file additional amended complaints if necessary to address

DEFENDANTS' State and Federal violations which may occur after the filing of this Complaint.  Each

of DEFENDANTS' violations is a  separate violation of the CWA.
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48. RIVER WATCH avers and believes and on such belief alleges that without the imposition of

appropriate civil penalties and the issuance of appropriate equitable relief,  DEFENDANTS will continue

to violate the CWA as well as State and Federal standards with respect to the enumerated discharges and

releases.  RIVER WATCH avers and believes and on such belief alleges  that the relief requested in this

Complaint will redress the injury to RIVER WATCH, prevent future injury, and protect the interests of

RIVER WATCH and its members  which are or may be adversely affected by DEFENDANTS' violations

of the CWA, as well as other State and Federal standards.

VIII.  SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF

Violations of the CWA

 33 U.S.C. § 1342(p); 40 C.F.R. § 122.26

 (Discharger Must Comply With the General Permit)

 RIVER WATCH incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 48 above, including the CWA

NOTICE as though fully set forth herein, and alleges as follows:

49. DEFENDANTS have violated and continue to violate the CWA as evidenced by the violations

of the General Permit.   By law and by the terms of the General Permit, to which DEFENDANTS have

not objected , violations of the General Permit are violations of the CWA. 40 C.F.R. § 122.41(a).

50. The violations of DEFENDANTS are ongoing, and will continue after the filing of this

 Complaint.  RIVER WATCH alleges all violations which may have occurred or will occur prior to trial,

but for which data may not have been available or submitted or apparent from the face of the reports or

data submitted by DEFENDANTS to the RWQCB or to RIVER WATCH prior to the filing of this

Complaint.  RIVER WATCH will file additional amended complaints if necessary to address State and

Federal violations of the General Permit which may occur after the filing of this Complaint.  Each of

DEFENDANTS' violations in excess of its NPDES permit limits or State and Federal standards is a

separate violation of the CWA.  DEFENDANTS have violated and continue to violate an “effluent

standard or limitation” under CWA §  505(a)(1), 33 U.S.C. § 1342(p), 40 C.F.R.  § 122.26 , or an order

issued by the State with respect to such a standard or limitation.
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51. RIVER WATCH avers and believes and on such belief alleges that without the imposition of

appropriate civil penalties and the issuance of appropriate equitable relief,  DEFENDANTS will continue

to violate the General Permit as well as State and Federal standards with respect to the enumerated

discharges and releases.  RIVER WATCH avers and believes and on such belief alleges that the relief

requested in this Complaint will redress the injury to RIVER WATCH, prevent future injury, and protect

the interests of RIVER WATCH and its members which are or may be adversely affected by

DEFENDANTS' violations of the General Permit, State and Federal standards.

 IX.  THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF

Violations of the RCRA

 42 U.S.C.  § 6972(a)(1)(A)

 RIVER WATCH incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 51 above, including the RCRA

NOTICES as though fully set forth herein, and alleges as follows:

52. RCRA § 7002(a)(1)(A), 42 U.S.C. § 6972(a)(1)(A) permits an action against any person who

violates a permit, standard or regulation pursuant to the RCRA.  Civil penalties may be assessed against

any person or entity in violation of this section, pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §§ 6928 (a) and (g). 

53. DEFENDANTS’ storage and handling of materials at the MINE containing arsenic and other 

toxic metals defined as hazardous wastes under the RCRA,  has caused the discharge of hazardous wastes

to soil and groundwater in violation of regulations regarding the use and disposal of hazardous wastes.

RCRA §3004(d),  42 U.S.C. §6924(d).

54. RIVER WATCH avers and believes and on such belief alleges that without the imposition of

appropriate civil penalties and the issuance of appropriate equitable relief,  DEFENDANTS will continue

to violate a permit, standard or regulation pursuant to the RCRA, specifically RCRA § 3004(d), 42 U.S.C.

§6924(d).

55. Continuing acts or failure to act by DEFENDANTS to address these violations will irreparably

harm RIVER WATCH and its members for which harm they have no plain, speedy or adequate remedy

at law.
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X.  FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

Violation of the RCRA

 42 U.S.C.  § 6972(a)(1)(B) 

RIVER WATCH  incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 55 above, including the RCRA

NOTICE as though fully set forth herein, and alleges as follows:

56. RCRA § 7002(a)(1)(B), 42 U.S.C. § 6972(a)(1)(B), provides that any person may commence a

civil action against any person or governmental entity including a past or present generator, transporter,

owner or operator of a treatment, storage or disposal facility who has contributed to the past or present

handling, storage, treatment, transportation, or disposal of any solid or hazardous waste which may

present an imminent and substantial endangerment to health or to the environment. 

57. DEFENDANTS including INDIVIDUAL DEFENDANTS  own and operate the MINE, or are

past or present managers and/or employees of the owners of the MINE  at which they have stored mine

tailings and waste rock containing pollutants including arsenic, potassium xanthate, copper sulfate and

methylisobutylcarbonol, lead copper and zinc.

58. DEFENDANTS have stored the mine tailings and waste rock in a manner which has allowed

those materials to leach pollutants into soil and groundwater beneath and adjacent to the MINE site.

59. The  pollutants listed above are known to be hazardous to the environment and if released into

the environment in sufficient quantity  pose an imminent and substantial risk. 

60. For purposes of the RCRA, arsenic,  potassium xanthate, copper sulfate  methylisobutylcarbonol,

lead copper and zinc are "solid wastes" and " hazardous wastes" within the meaning of the statute.

61. RIVER WATCH is  informed and believes, and on such belief alleges,  that amounts of  arsenic,

potassium xanthate, copper sulfate, methylisobutylcarbonol, lead copper and zinc released by

DEFENDANTS at the MINE site are in sufficient quantity to pose an imminent and substantial risk to

both the environment and human health.

62. Continuing acts or failure to act by DEFENDANTS to address these violations will irreparably

harm RIVER WATCH and its members for which harm they have no plain, speedy or adequate remedy

at law.

Case 2:09-at-01441     Document 2      Filed 09/08/2009     Page 14 of 76



Case 2:09-at-01441     Document 2      Filed 09/08/2009     Page 15 of 76



Case 2:09-at-01441     Document 2      Filed 09/08/2009     Page 16 of 76



Case 2:09-at-01441     Document 2      Filed 09/08/2009     Page 17 of 76



Case 2:09-at-01441     Document 2      Filed 09/08/2009     Page 18 of 76



Case 2:09-at-01441     Document 2      Filed 09/08/2009     Page 19 of 76



Case 2:09-at-01441     Document 2      Filed 09/08/2009     Page 20 of 76



Case 2:09-at-01441     Document 2      Filed 09/08/2009     Page 21 of 76



Case 2:09-at-01441     Document 2      Filed 09/08/2009     Page 22 of 76



Case 2:09-at-01441     Document 2      Filed 09/08/2009     Page 23 of 76



Case 2:09-at-01441     Document 2      Filed 09/08/2009     Page 24 of 76



Case 2:09-at-01441     Document 2      Filed 09/08/2009     Page 25 of 76



Case 2:09-at-01441     Document 2      Filed 09/08/2009     Page 26 of 76



Case 2:09-at-01441     Document 2      Filed 09/08/2009     Page 27 of 76



Case 2:09-at-01441     Document 2      Filed 09/08/2009     Page 28 of 76



Case 2:09-at-01441     Document 2      Filed 09/08/2009     Page 29 of 76



Case 2:09-at-01441     Document 2      Filed 09/08/2009     Page 30 of 76



Notice of Violations (CWA) - Page 1

Law Office of Jack Silver
P.O. Box 5469 Santa Rosa, California 95402
Phone  707-528-8175 Fax  707-528-8675

lhm28843@sbcglobal.net 

Via Certif ied Mail - Return Receipt Requested

July 3, 2009

Gerhard Nel, CEO/Director
Bullion River Gold Corp. .
French Gulch (Nevada) Mining Corp
3500 Lakeside Court, Suite 200
Reno, NV 89509-4896

Timothy A. Callaway, Past  President
Bullion River Gold Corp.
French Gulch (Nevada) Mining Corp
3500 Lakeside Court, Suite 200
Reno, NV 89509-4896

Peter M Kuhn, Past President
Bullion River Gold Corp.
French Gulch (Nevada) Mining Corp
3500 Lakeside Court, Suite 200
Reno, NV 89509-4896

Dr. René  Juchler, Chief Financial Offi cer
Chairman - Board of Directors
Bullion River Gold Corp.
3500 Lakeside Court, Suite 200
Reno, NV 89509-4896

Paul Haber, Board Member
Bullion River Gold Corp.
3500 Lakeside Court, Suite 200
Reno, NV 89509-4896
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Dr. Jorg Otzen, Board Member
Bullion River Gold Corp.
3500 Lakeside Court, Suite 200
Reno, NV 89509-4896

Glenn Blanchard, Former Manager
Vice President for Engineering
Bullion River Gold Corp.
3500 Lakeside Court, Suite 200
Reno, NV 89509-4896

Paul Spor
Former Mining Manager
French Gulch (Nevada) Mining Corp.
3500 Lakeside Court, Suite 200
Reno, NV 89509-4896

Kiedrock Kim  
Former General Manager
Bullion River Gold Corp.
3500 Lakeside Court, Suite 200
Reno, NV 89509-4896

 RE:  Notice of Violations and In tent to File Suit Under the Clean Water Act 

Dear Managing Agents Owners and/or Operators:

NOTI CE

Clean Water Act § 505(b), 33 U.S.C. § 1365(b), requires that sixty (60) days prior to
the initiation of a civ il action for violations under Clean Water Act § 505(a), 33 U.S.C. §
1365(a), a citizen must give notice of intent to sue to the alleged violator, the Environmental
Protection Agency and the State in which the violations occur.

Stuart Bennett, Bianca Augustine and Northern California River Watch, hereafter
collectively hereafter, “Citizens”, hereby place Gerald Nel, Timothy A. Callaway, Peter M.
Kuhn, Dr. René  Juchler, Paul Haber, Dr. Jorg Otzen, Glenn Blanchard, Paul Spor, and
Kiedrock Kim hereafter collectively referred to as “Polluters”,  on notice that following the
expiration of sixty (60) days from the date of this NOTICE, Citi zens intend to bring suit in
the United States District Court against Polluters for their continuing violations of “an
effluent standard or l imitation”, permit condition or requirement and/or “an order issued by
the Administrator or a State with respect to such standard or limitation” under Clean Water
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Act § 505(a)(1), 33 U.S.C. § 1365(a)(1), the Code of Federal Regulations, and the Basin
Plan, as exemplifi ed by Polluters’  i l legally discharging from the Washington Mine site and
facil ities described further in this NOTICE without a Clean Water Act § 402(a) National
Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (“NPDES”) permit issued under Clean Water Act
§ 402(b).

This NOTICE also addresses Polluters’  failure to comply with the terms and
conditions of California's General Industrial Storm Water Permit for Industrial Storm Water
Discharges (WDID # 228S003380), their il legal discharges of contaminated stormwater from
the Washington Mine site and facil ities as further described in this NOTICE, their discharges
of non-storm water pollutants from said site and facil ities in violation of effl uent limitations,
and their violations of the procedural requirements of NPDES General Permit No.
CAS000001 [State Water Resources Control Board] Water Quality Order No. 97-03-DWQ
and Water Quality Order No. 91-13-DWQ (as amended by Water Quality Order 92-12-
DWQ) issued pursuant to Clean Water Act § 402(p), 33 U.S.C. § 1342(p), referred to
hereafter as the “General Permit”.

The Clean Water Act (“ CWA” ) regulates the discharge of pollutants into navigable
waters.  The statute is structured in such a way that all discharge of pollutants is prohibited
with the exception of several enumerated statutory exceptions.  One such exception
authorizes a polluter who has been issued a permit pursuant to the NPDES, to discharge
designated pollutants at certain levels subject to certain conditions.  The effluent discharge
standards or limitations specif ied in a NPDES permit def ine the scope of the authorized
exception to the 33 U.S.C. §1311(a) prohibition.  Polluters do not have a NPDES permit for
point source discharges [see CWA §§ 402(a) and 402(b)]. Without a NPDES permit all
discharges from Polluters’  Washington M ine site and facil ities identifi ed herein to waters of
the United States are il legal. Polluters only have a NPDES permit issued under CWA §
402(p) for stormwater.  All non-stormwater discharges and stormwater discharges containing
pollutants are violations of the CWA.

The violations alleged against the above-named individuals, designated collectively
as “Polluters”, are all eged against them as individuals who were and/or are involved in
activities which have resulted in ongoing violations of an eff luent standard or limitation
under the CWA, or an order issued by an Administrator or the State with respect to such a
standard or limitation, as described below. CWA § 505(a)(1), 33 U.S.C. § 1365(a)(1),
permits a citizen to commence an action against any person alleged to be in violation of such
a standard or lim itation. The CWA does not define “person” in other than its ordinary
meaning for the purpose of CWA § 505(a)(1), 33 U.S.C. § 1365(a)(1). An individual who
participates in activiti es which violate provisions of the CWA, by directly carrying out said
activiti es, arranging for or supervising said activiti es, or by authorizing said activiti es, is
liable for those violations even if  he or she was acting in his or her capacity as a corporate
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off icer or employee.  The liabili ty imposed on such an individual is not derivative but is
based on the indiv idual’ s personal participation in wrongful conduct.   

The CWA requires that any notice regarding an alleged violation of an effl uent
standard or limitation, or of an order with respect thereto, shall include suffi cient information
to permit the recipient to identify : 

 1. The specif ic standar d, l imitation, or order  alleged to have been violated.

To comply with this requirement Citizens have noticed Polluters of the fact that
Poll uters have no NPDES permit allowing them to discharge pollutants to waters of the
United States as required by CWA § 301(a), 33 U.S.C. § 1311(a) and CWA §§ 402(a) and
402(b), 33 U.S.C. § 1342(a) and 1342(b).

 2. The activity alleged to constitute a violation.

To comply with this requirement Citizens have set forth narratives below describing
with particularity the activities leading to violations.

 3. The discharger  responsible for the alleged violation.

The discharger responsible for the alleged violations are the individual addressees set
forth on Page 1 of this NOTICE, collectively referred to as “Polluters” throughout this
NOTICE.

 4. The location of the alleged violation.

The location or locations of the various violations are identif ied in the SITE
DESCRIPTION section of this NOTICE and in records either created or maintained by or
for Polluters which relate to Polluters’  activities on the site.

 5. The date or dates of violation or a reasonable range of dates duri ng which
the alleged activit ies occur r ed.

This NOTICE covers the statutory period of limitations to date running from July 1,
2004 through July 1, 2009.  Citizens will from time to time update and supplement this
NOTICE to include all v iolations which occur after the date of this NOTICE.  The majority
of the violations such as discharging pollutants to waters of  the United States without a
NPDES permit, failure to obtain a NPDES permit, failure to implement the requirements of
the CWA, failure to meet water quality objectives, etc., are continuous, and therefore each
day is a violation. Citi zens believe all v iolations set forth in the NOTICE are continuing in
nature or will likely continue after the fil ing of a lawsuit.   Specifi c dates of violations are 
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evidenced in Polluters’ own records (or lack thereof) or fil es and records of other regulatory
agencies including the Regional Water Qualit y Control Board (“ RWQCB” ), Shasta County
Health and local police and fire departments. 

 6. The full name, address, and telephone number of the person giving notice.

The persons giving this are Stuart Bennett and Bianca Augustine,  11413 French
Gulch Road, French Gulch, CA. 96033 Tel. 530-359-2401, and Northern California River
Watch, 500 North Main Street, Suite 110, Sebastopol, CA 95472.  Tel. 707-824-4372.

Stuart Bennett and Bianca Augustine are individuals directly affected by Polluters’
i l legal acts as described in this NOTICE. They  li ve adjacent to the site and facil ities
identified in this NOTICE and down stream of i ts pollution. They are members of Northern
Calif ornia River Watch.  

Northern California River Watch is a non-prof it corporation, organized under the laws
of the State of California and dedicated to the protection and enhancement of the waters of
the State of California including all rivers, creeks, streams and groundwater in Northern
Calif ornia. 

    The violations of  Polluters as set forth in this NOTICE affect the health and
enjoyment of Citizens (or their members) who reside and recreate in the French Gulch
watershed.  Citizens (or their members) use this watershed for domestic water supply,
agricultural water supply, recreation, sports, fishing, swimming, hiking, photography, nature
walks and the like.  Their health, use and enjoyment of this natural resource is specif ically
impaired by Polluters’ v iolations of the CWA. 

SI TE DESCRI PTI ON

The Washington Mine is located approximately 2.6 air miles northwest of French
Gulch in western Shasta County, Califo rnia. Access to the mine facili ties is provided via
unimproved dirt roads which extend from French Gulch Road.  The total surface area
affected by operations is about 5.5 acres.

The Washington Mine has historically been used solely for the extraction and
processing of gold-containing ore.  The mine has been in operation intermittently since 1852,
with the existing mill building being constructed in 1939.  The project site consists of
patented and un-patented claim blocks totaling 1,825 acres,  470 acres of which are patented.
Surface rights to the un-patented claims are administered by the Bureau of Land
Management.  The claims are located within several sections but are primarily  located in
Township 33 North, Range 7 West, Sections 16 and 17.  
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The sites listed and identified below have been used since January 1, 1976 or are
planned for current active operation.   

M ill  Site

The mill site is on a long, narrow bench at the 2,400-foot elevation. The mill processes
ore from the mine.  An office is located in the vicinity of the mill building. Three 1,000-
gallon diesel, aboveground storage tanks (“AST”) and one 200-gallon gasoline AST are
present at the site.  A ll four tanks are located approximately 100 feet east of the site adit. A
tail ings thickener and two air compressors are also located between the mill building and
adit. The air compressors are located on a concrete foundation immediately adjacent to the
AST east of the site adit, while the thickener is located directly on the ground surface above
the former percolation settling ponds. 

A reverse osmosis water treatment system has been installed immediately west of the
tail ings thickener. The water treatment system is designed to remove all dissolved ions,
including heavy metal ions.  The system will be uti l ized to treat excess mine mill ing
industrial waters, as well as to provide water for showers, sinks, and toilets. The system
currently in place provides approximately 15 gallons per minute of water.  The waste from
this system is il legally discharged offsite.

Following treatment, waste water not required for mining and mill ing operations is
surface applied at the areas being actively reclaimed to the west of the site adit. The process
water is over applied and runs of f  the site entering surface waters.  Storm water runoff is
supposed to be confined to the long bench containing these facil ities, as French Gulch Road
is immediately above the mill building, and intercepts and diverts runoff from upslope of the
mill bench.

Potential pollutants include petrochemicals, potassium xanthate, copper sulfate,
arsenic, methylisobutylcarbanol and sediment.

Most Recent Adit 

The most recent  adit is located approximately 360 feet southwest of the existing mill
site. The adit is located on the same long narrow bench containing the mill site, at an
elevation of 2,400 feet. This bench formerly contained a percolation pond and tail ings
settl ing pond, which have since been fil led but not remediated. None of the pollutants from
the percolation ponds including arsenic were removed and they continue to leak into the
groundwater or are washed offsite during rain events.

The new adit is considerably larger in width (14 feet wide x 13 feet high) compared
to other site adits, in order to util ize rubber-tired, diesel-powered equipment to haul waste
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rock and ore to the surface. The new adit wil l connect to the Robillard, I-Level and Barnes
Adits.  French Gulch (Nevada) Mining Corporation  will obtain ore from the existing adits;
however, the ore wil l primarily be hauled through the new portal, rather than through the
existing portals.

Boneyard

To the southwest of the mill site is another long, narrow bench known as the
Boneyard. The Boneyard contains no permanent structures.  It has been used in the past for
stockpil ing materials and supplies.  The Boneyard is approximately 200 feet long by up to
40 feet wide, and is at an elevation of 2,400 feet.  Drainage in the vicinity of the Boneyard
appears to be by sheet flow and drainage channels. The Boneyard is highly contaminated
with toxic metals including arsenic and has never been remediated. Pollutants leach into the
groundwater and are also washed off  site during rain events. 

Robillard Adit and Escapeway

The Robill ard Adit is at an elevation of 2,360 feet, located southeast of the mill .  Its
staging area consists of two long, narrow benches. The larger upper bench is at the level of
the adit, and contains 18-gauge rail for ore carts, which are no longer in use. The rail extends
on a trestle over the lower bench. A two-foot-high safety berm is present along the outer edge
of the lower bench. Waste rock was once disposed of by pushing it over the edge of the lower
bench, creating a barren and relatively unstable slope below the bench.

At times, waste water and acid drainage fl ows by gravity out of the adit and into the
Scorpion Creek drainage. The Robillard Escapeway is located roughly 200 feet north-
northwest of the Robillard Adit.  The portal to the Escapeway has caved in and is no longer
proposed for use.  It is on a south-facing slope at an elevation of about 2,480 feet.  An access
road about 250 feet in length extends from the tail ing disposal road to the Escapeway.
Drainage in the vicinity of the Escapeway appears to be by sheet flow toward a ditch running
along French Gulch Road.  Storm water runoff throughout the area is a signifi cant source of
pollution to Scorpion Creek.

2630 Level Adit

The 2630 Level Adit is on an east-facing slope at an elevation of about 2,625 feet,
located northeast of the mill . The staging area of the adit consists of a single bench with a
short access spur extending east to the access road for the tail ings disposal site. Currently,
the staging area is being util ized to store dril l cores generated during mine exploration. The
adit was illegally  constructed by a previous mine operator.  A metal storage bin was formerly
used to access the adit and is stil l present. The adit i tself  has since collapsed and is not 
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proposed for future use. Drainage in the vicinity of the adit appears to be by sheet flow
toward the tail ings disposal road.

I-L evel Adit

The I-Level Adit is on an east-facing slope at an elevation of about 2,160 feet, located
in the northeastern portion of the site. Ore is currently being mined from the adit and
transported via haul trucks to the new adit staging area.

Similar to the Robillard Adit, waste water and acid drainage flows by gravity out of
the I-Level Adit and makes its way to surface waters including adjacent waters of the United
States.  The poll utants flow into a small settl ing pond just outside the I-Level and then
indirectly into the Right Fork of the French Gulch. 

Taili ngs Disposal site

The tailings disposal site is on an east-facing slope at an elevation of 2,800 feet.
Tail ings deposited at the disposal site were periodically leveled and contoured or bermed,
creating the steep face of the stockpile.  Erosion at the disposal site has formed a signifi cant
gully on the eastern side of the site.  Tail ings at the site have been observed down slope of
the gully, washed down during storm events. The potential contaminants in the tail ings, the
continued erosion of the gully itself, as well as the overall stabil ity of the site are signifi cant
concerns to Citizens.

The site is currently being util ized for storage of waste rock generated from mining
activities at the new site adit. Storm water runoff at the site flows in an easterly direction
toward the gully or toward a road washout and smaller gully located on the right side of the
tail ings disposal site access road. Storm water runoff appears to flow into the Right Fork of
French Gulch from both gullies.

Retention Pond

One unlined retention pond is present immediately east of the I-Level portal. The pond
receives discharge from the adit and allows sediment to settle prior to flowing out of the
pond.  Wastewater flows from the pond into a pipe and over ground into the Right Fork of
French Gulch. 

SI TE/FACI LI TY  OPERAT I ONS

There are no storm water discharge systems on site. Surface waters in the vicinity of
the actively used mine sites consist of perennial streams which flow either to the north or
east through the Right Fork of the French Gulch or to the south through Scorpion Gulch.
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Groundwater currently flows by gravity out of the Robillard and I-Level Adits.
Wastewater is discharged off-site. Process water is applied via irrigation sprinklers to the
area west of the mill  formerly used for taili ngs storage, the bench area west of the new portal,
and the Boneyard area at the extreme west end of the site. This improper disposal and
discharge leaches pollutants into the groundwater and to surface waters including waters of
the United States.

Sources of pollutants in storm water discharge at the Washington Mine include the
mill ing process, vehicle and equipment fueling, usage and maintenance, materials storage,
road maintenance and other activities. The majority of industrial processes at the site take
place at the existing mill site.  The area between the mill and the new adit that cannot be used
for alternative applications, such as road building material, rip-rap, etc., will  be used on-site
to reclaim previously disturbed areas.  This will include the area west of the mill, which was
previously used for tail ings storage, as well as the bench area past the proposed new portal
and the Boneyard area at the extreme west end of the site. The intent is to spread and
compact the mine waste rock, ultimately restoring the natural prof ile of the hill side. This fill
system will be engineered to ensure long-term stability of the emplaced materials.

Ore is withdrawn from the surface stockpiles and fed to the crusher with a front-end
loader. Crushed and screened ore is conveyed by belt , to a 500-ton fine ore bin. Ore is
withdrawn from the bin and fed to the grinding mill by an apron feeder conveyor
combination. The ore is ground in the mill and separated by cyclone classifi ers into coarse
and fine fractions. The fine fraction is sent to a Falcon concentrator. The coarse fraction
returns to the grinding mill  for further size reduction.  In the Falcon concentrator, the gold
is separated from the other minerals by centrifugal force.  The gold concentrate is collected
and sent to the melt room. 

The tail ings from the Falcon concentrator are then further processed on shaking tables.
The shaking tables use the dif ferences in specif ic gravity of the gold and the other minerals
to recover the very fine gold in the grind mixture.  The recovered gold from the shaking
tables is transferred to the melt room. 

The tail ings from the shaking tables are then pumped to the flotation conditioner tanks
where they are mixed with a flotation collector in solution. The collector chemical (potassium
xanthate) forms a bond with sulfi de minerals which are in contact or surround some of the
recoverable gold. The xanthate causes the sulfi de minerals to become hydrophobic and
amenable to forming a bond with air bubbles. The conditi oned slurry is then transferred to
a series of f lotation cell s in which air is injected into the cell  to form bubbles. A frother,
methylisobutylcarbanol, is injected to help form  air bubbles during the flotation process, and
copper sulfate is injected to enhance the attachment of the metal sulfi des to the air bubbles
in the flotation cells.  As the bubbles float upward through the slurry, the sulf ide minerals
attach to the bubbles and are drawn off into a launderer at the top lip of the cell.  The gangue
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minerals do not attach to the bubbles and are transferred along the bottom of the cell to the
next cell i n the bank. Ultimately, the slurry, which contains a concentration of toxic metals
such as arsenic, lead, copper, and zinc, flows to the tail ings thickener where it is partially de-
watered prior to final  disposition as backf il l in the mine. Two thirds of the tail ing volume
is typically used in backfil l ing, one third is deposited in chambers built for final disposal or
for eventual recycling to stopes as backf ill. 

The concentrated minerals recovered from the flotation process then flow to a series
of disc fi lters where they are de-watered. The filter cake from the disc filters is then
collected in bags and shipped off-site to be further processed.  Waters uti l ized in the
industrial processes are often il legally discharged. The mill does not have a sulfi de roaster
or an autoclave to treat the sulf ides and recover the gold on-site. Ore ingots will  be cast in
the melt facil ity from gravity concentrates.

OTHER NON-PERMITTED DISCHARGES

Other than previously described, other non-permitted water discharge at the site
includes the wastewater and acid leachate flowing by gravity out of the Robillard, I-Level
and Barnes adits and into the Right Fork of the French Gulch or into Scorpion Gulch,
discharges from trucks and other equipment for dust control and for the elimination of excess
process waters, discharges from ponds and piping, and il legal releases of process water.

SOIL EROSION

All the soils mapped within the vicinity of the Washington M ine site have a
signifi cant potential for erosion. The areas west of the mill and new adit that will be
reclaimed with mine waste rock will serve as areas with a high potential for erosion.   Runoff
from the access roads throughout the property is an additional source of soil erosion and
sediment loss from the site.  The roads are improperly maintained leading to il legal
discharges and pollution during rains.

The main erosion control and site stabil ization concern at the site revolves around the
areas proposed to be actively reclaimed with mine waste rock.  Poll uters have used mine
waste rock for erosion control and reclamation. However the waste rock contains high
amounts of toxic metals and sediment. The use of the mine waste rock causes stabili ty
problems. Erosion control concerns present a problem in all areas where soil has been placed
and vegetation has not had ample time to become establi shed.  Polluters currently use a
combination of silt fencing, straw wattles, and straw bales around soil stockpil es and
downslope of highly erodable areas, such as areas being actively reclaimed.  These measures
are clearly inadequate as they allow large amounts of pollutants, toxic metals and sediment
to be washed off  site and into creek and streams. 
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Runoff from the access roads throughout the property is a serious cause of soil erosion
pollution and sediment loss from the site. The roads are not properly maintained.   Waste
rock containing toxic metals such as arsenic and copper are used to surface roads and then
are leached out during rains as well as when Polluters discharges waste water as part of its
“ dust control” . 

GOOD HOUSEKEEPING

Good housekeeping includes maintaining a clean and orderly work environment.  A
clean and orderly work area reduces the possibil ity of accidental spil ls caused by the
mishandling of equipment or materials and should reduce safety hazards to personnel.  It also
reduces the chance of storm water coming into contact with spil led or improperly stored or
placed signifi cant materials.  Currently Polluters have not implemented good housekeeping
practices.

CONTI NUING VI OLAT I ONS

In a recent Order and Transmittal of Inspection Report (“Order”) , dated June 3, 2009,
from the RWQCB to Gerhard Nel, President, French Gulch Nevada Mining Co., the
RWQCB detailed ongoing violations at the site: 

“ There are several sources of waste at the Site that contain appreciable
concentrations of arsenic and other heavy metals....Based on the concentration
of arsenic in these wastes and the presence of other heavy metals, each of these
wastes ware classifi ed as Group B mining wastes pursuant to Title 27 of the
California Code of Regulations (Title 27). Such wastes must be placed in a
containment facil ity constructed to prevent the infiltration of rainwater and the
discharge of wastes to surface or ground water....Currently there is a discharge
of mine drainage from the I-Level adit to a surface water drainage course.”
(Order pg.1)   

“Over the past two and one-half years, samples of water discharging from the
mine portals and surface waters, including Scorpion Gulch and French Gulch,
have been collected and analyzed by BRGC and the Regional Water Board
staff (Tables 1-4). The water analyses indicate that signifi cant concentrations
of metals, most problematic arsenic, are discharging from the mine adits and
impacting surface waters.”(Order pg.2)

“W e then proceeded to the I-Level adit (Figure 1, Photo 1). This portal is on
BLM land and BRGC conducted mining activities in this area. Mine drainage
was flowing from this portal at approximately 10 gpm and was discharging
down a steep ravine leading to French Gulch.” (Order pg.3) 
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“The suspension of mining operations at the Washington Mine has not resulted
in the cessation of the discharge of mine drainage from the various adits or
reduced the threat of a discharge of waste constituents from the tail ings and
waste rock disposal facil ities.”  (Order pg.4-SUMMARY)

 Citizens take the position that adequate monitoring should be conducted throughout
the entire effected area. In general, Citizens believe remediation must be conducted
proactively to remove existing threats both to the environment and to individuals who live
in the area of the Washington Mine site.

Pollutants have been discharged from the site and facil ities to Citizens’  residential or
recreational areas for decades as well.   As a direct result of Polluters’  violations of the
CWA, Citizens  have suffered loss of property value and habitabil ity, and have experienced
numerous adverse health affects, including severe skin rashes and documented
concentrations of arsenic and mercury in the bodies of Stuart Bennett, Bianca Augustine, and
their children Heath Jay Bennett, Jarod Myron Bloom and Mariah Frances Bela Bennett,
which are considered toxic, the long effects of which are presently unknown and alleged to
be both adverse and serious in nature.   Also documented are levels of arsenic and other
pollutants considered toxic both in French Gulch Creek, which runs through the property
located at 11413 French Gulch Road, affecting the habitabil ity, uses and value of the
property.

VI OLAT I ONS

Polluters have caused or permitted, cause or permit, or threaten to cause or permit
waste to be discharged or deposited where it is, or probably will be, discharged into the
waters of the state and creates, or threatens to create, a condition of pollution or nuisance.
Continuing discharges are in violation of the CWA, the Porter-Cologne Water Qualit y
Control Act and provisions of the RWQCB’s Water Qualit y Control Plan for the Sacramento
and San Joaquin River Basins (“Basin Plan” ). 

           Beneficial uses of areal groundwater include domestic, irrigation, and industrial
supply.  Beneficial uses of Scorpion Gulch and French Gulch watersheds include: municipal
and domestic supply; agricultural supply; industrial process supply; groundwater recharge;
navigation; hydropower generation; water contact recreation; non-contact water recreation;
commercial and sport fishing; warm freshwater habitat; cold freshwater habitat; wildlife
habitat; migration of aquatic organisms; and, spawning, reproduction, and/or early
development. 

Water quality objectives in the Basin Plan are adopted to ensure protection of the
beneficial uses of water. The most stringent water qualit y objectives for protection of all
beneficial uses are selected as the protective water quality criteria. 
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Discharge prohibitions contained in the Basin Plan apply to this site. State Water
Resources Control Board Resolution 68-16 (Statement of Policy With Respect To
Maintaining High Quality of Waters in California) applies to this site.   State Water
Resources Control Board Resolution 92-49 also applies to this site and sets out the Policies
and Procedures for Investigation and Cleanup and Abatement of Discharges under Section
13304 of the Calif ornia Water Code. 

     CWA §301(a), 33 U.S.C. §1311(a), the Environmental Protection Agency and the
State of California have formally concluded that violations by Polluters as described and set
forth in this NOTICE by are prohibited by law.  Beneficial uses of Scorpion Gulch, French
Gulch and their tributaries in the vicinity of the site are being affected in a prohibited manner
by these violations.  Pursuant to CWA § 304, 33 U.S.C. § 1311, the Environmental
Protection Agency and the State have identifi ed the site as a point source, the discharges
from which contribute to violations of applicable water quality standards.  

From July 1, 2004 through July 1, 2009 Polluters have violated the CWA, the Basin
Plan and the Code of Federal Regulation for discharging pollutants into waters of the United
States without an NPDES permit as described above.

These enumerated violations are based upon review of the RWQCB’s files for
Polluters as well as studies conducted by Polluters in compliance with orders from regulatory
agencies.  In additi on to all of the above violations, this NOTICE covers any and all
violations evidenced by Polluters’  records and monitoring data which Polluters have
submitted (or failed to submit) to the RWQCB or other regulatory agencies.  This NOTICE
also covers any and all violations which may have occurred but for which data may not have
been available or submitted or apparent from the face of the reports or data submitted by
Polluters to the RWQCB or other regulatory agencies.

     Pursuant to CWA § 309(d), 33 U.S.C. §1319(d), each of the above described
violations of the CWA subjects the violator to a penalty of up to $32,500.00 per day per
violation for violations occurring within five (5) years prior to the initiation of a citizen
enforcement action.   In addition to civil penalties, Citizens will seek injunctive relief
preventing further violations of the CWA pursuant to CWA §§ 505(a) and 505(d), 33 U.S.C.
§§1365(a) and 1365(d), and such other relief as is permitted by law.  Lastly, CWA § 505(d),
33 U.S.C. §1365(d), permits prevail ing parties to recover costs and fees.

CONTACT INFORM AT I ON

Citi zens have retained legal counsel to represent them in this matter.  All
communications should be addressed to:
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Law Office of Jack Silver
P.O. Box 5469 Santa Rosa, California 95402
Phone  707-528-8175 Fax  707-528-8675

lhm28843@sbcglobal.net 

July 2, 2009

Gerhard Nel, CEO/Director Timothy A. Callaway, President
Bullion River Gold Corp. Bullion River Gold Corp.
French Gulch (Nevada) Mining Corp French Gulch (Nevada) Mining Corp
3500 Lakeside Court, Suite 200 3500 Lakeside Court, Suite 200
Reno, NV 89509-4896 Reno, NV 89509-4896

Peter M Kuhn, Past President Dr. René  Juchler, Chief Financial Offi cer
Bull ion River Gold Corp. Chairman - Board of Directors
French Gulch (Nevada) Mining Corp Bull ion River Gold Corp
3500 Lakeside Court, Suite 200 3500 Lakeside Court, Suite 200
Reno, NV 89509-4896 Reno, NV 89509-4896

Paul Haber, Board Member Dr. Jorg Otzen - Board Member
Bull ion River Gold Corp. Bull ion River Gold Corp
3500 Lakeside Court, Suite 200 3500 Lakeside Court, Suite 200
Reno, NV 89509-4896 Reno, NV 89509-4896

Glen Blanchard, Former Manager Paul Spor
Vice President for Engineering Former Mining Manager
Bull ion River Gold Corp. French Gulch (Nevada) Mining Corp
3500 Lakeside Court, Suite 200 3500 Lakeside Court, Suite 200
Reno, NV 89509-4896 Reno, NV 89509-4896

Kiedrock Kim  Ken Salazar
Former General M anager Secretary of the  Interior 
Bull ion River Gold Corp. U. S. Department of the Interior 
3500 Lakeside Court, Suite 200 1849 C Street, N.W.
Reno, NV 89509-4896 Washington D.C. 20240
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Mike Pool - State Director
U.S. Department of the Interior
Bureau of Land Management
2800 Cottage Way, Suite W-1623
Sacramento, CA 95825

    RE:  Noti ce of Violati ons and I ntent to F i l e Suit Under  the Resource
Conservation and Recovery Act (“R CRA”)

Dear Managing Agents and/or Owners:

On behalf of Stuart Bennett, Bianca Augustine, French Gulch - Upper Clear Creek
Resource Management Group and Northern Califo rnia River Watch (hereafter collectively
referred to as “ Citi zens”), I am providing statutory notific ation (“Notice” ) to Gerhard Nel,
Timothy A. Callaway, Peter M. Kuhn, Dr.  René  Juchler, Paul Haber, Dr. Jorg Otzen, Glenn
Blanchard, Paul Spor, Kiedrock Kim, and the United States Department of the Interior
(hereafter collectively referred to as “Polluters”) , of continuing and ongoing violations of the
Federal Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (“RCRA”)  42 U.S.C. § 6901 et seq., in
conjunction with the continuing pollution at the Site, described in the BACKGROUND
section of this Notice.

NOTI CE

The RCRA, 42 U.S.C. § 6901 et  seq., requires that 60 days prior to the initiation of
an action for violation of a permit, standard, regulation, condition, requirement, prohibition
or order effective under the RCRA, a private party must give notice of the violation to the
alleged violator, the Administrator of the  Environmental Protection Agency and the State
in which the violation is alleged to have occurred.  If  the violator is a State or local agency,
service of notice shall be accomplished by registered mail addressed to, or by personal
service upon, the head of such agency.   If the alleged violator is an individual or corporation,
service of notice shall be accomplished by registered mail addressed to, or by personal
service upon, the owner or site manager, with a copy sent to the registered agent of the
corporation. 42 U.S.C. § 6972(b)(1)(A).   

The RCRA also requires that a private party provide 90 days prior notice to the
alleged violator, the Administrator of the Environmental Protection Agency and the State in
which the violation is alleged to have occurred before initiating an action which alleges
violations resulting in imminent and substantial endangerment to human health or the
environment. 42 U.S.C. § 6972(b)(2)(A). However, such an action may be brought
immediately after such notif ication when a violation of Subtitle C of the RCRA is alleged
(subchapter III 42 U.S.C. §§ 6921 - 6939e).
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Subchapter III of the RCRA requires hazardous waste to be tracked from the time of
its generation to the time of its disposal, and further requires that such waste not be disposed
of in any manner that may create a danger to human health or to the environment.   As
discussed below, Polluters operate an ill egal, non-permitted hazardous waste treatment,
storage and disposal facility.   Polluters have either failed to properly label, track and/or
report the type, quantity or disposition of waste from that facil ity, or have failed to use a
manifest system to ensure the waste generated is properly handled, stored, treated or disposed
of.  Polluters are disposing wastes off-site without compliance with either the various
requirements under the RCRA or with the State of California’s hazardous waste requirements
authorized under the RCRA.   Polluters’ mishandling of wastes in violation of subchapter III
of the RCRA have created and are creating an imminent and substantial endangerment to
human health or the environment.   

Citizens allege violations of  Subtitle C, Subchapter III of the RCRA with regard to
both a violation of a permit, standard, regulation, condition, requirement, prohibition or order
effective under the  RCRA, as well as for violations resulting in an imminent and substantial
endangerment to human health or the environment. 

On behalf of Citizens,  I hereby provide statutory notifi cation to the above-named
individual officers and/or employees of Bullion River Gold Corp. and/or French Gulch
Nevada Mining Corp. collectively referred to hereaf ter as “Polluters”, of Polluters’
continuing and ongoing violations of  the RCRA.

Under the RCRA, notice to a violator regarding an alleged violation of a permit,
standard, regulation, condition, requirement, or order which has become effective under the
RCRA shall include suffi cient information to permit the recipient of the notice to identify the
permit, standard, regulation, condition, requirement, or order which has allegedly been
violated, the activity alleged to constitute a violation, the person or persons responsible for
the alleged violation, the date or dates of the violation (or reasonable range), and the full
name, address, and telephone number of the person giving notice. Citizens therefore provide
the following information:

1. The standar d, limitation, or order  alleged to have been violated.

The RCRA, enacted in 1976, is a Federal law of the United States contained in 42
U.S.C. §§ 6901-6992k.   Its goals are: to protect the public f rom harm caused by waste
disposal;  to encourage reuse, reduction, and recycling; and, to clean up spill ed or improperly
stored wastes.  RCRA § 3005, 42 U.S.C. § 6925, requires facil ities to obtain permits for the
handling, storage, treatment, transportation and/or disposal of hazardous waste.
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RCRA § 3004, 42 U.S.C. § 6924, requires owners and operators of hazardous waste
treatment, storage, and disposal facil ities to follow enumerated standards.  These
requirements are enumerated in 40 C.F.R. Part 264 and include requirements for General
Facil ity Standards (Subpart B), Preparedness and Prevention (Subpart C), Contingency Plans
and Emergency Procedures (Subpart D), Releases from Solid Waste Management Units
(Subpart F), Closure and Post-Closure (Subpart G), Financial Requirements (Subpart H), 
Surface Impoundments (Subpart K), Waste Piles (Subpart L), Land Treatment (Subpart M),
Landfil ls (Subpart N), and Miscellaneous Units (Subpart X).

Waste management regulations mandated by the Environmental Protection Agency
(“EPA”)  are codifi ed at 40 C.F.R. §§ 239-282.  Regulations regarding management of
hazardous waste begin at  40 C.F.R. §  260. Pursuant to the RCRA, the State of Califo rnia
has enacted laws and promulgated regulations which are at least as stringent as the federal
regulations. 

Polluters’  use and storage of waste at the Washington Mine Site identifi ed in the
BACKGROUND section of this Notice, and the disposal of those wastes as described in this
Notice has violated and continues to violate permits, standards, regulations, conditions,
requirements and/or prohibitions effective pursuant to the RCRA regarding hazardous waste.
[42 U.S.C. § 6972(a)(1)(A)].  

Polluters’ operations at the Site identified in the BACKGROUND section of this
Notice have caused contamination of soil, groundwater, surface waters and residential areas
which contamination presents an imminent and substantial endangerment to human health
and the environment.   Polluters own or operate discreet conveyances , ponds or preferential
pathways which have contributed to the transportation, treatment, storage, or disposal of the
wastes at the identified Site.  [42 U.S.C. § 6972(a)(1)(B)].

2. The activity alleged to constitute a violation

Narratives are set forth below describing with particularity the activities leading to the
violations alleged in this Notice.   In summary, the RCRA requires that the environment and
public be protected from the hazardous wastes generated by Polluters.  Pollutants including
petrochemicals, potassium xanthate, copper sulfate, arsenic, and methylisobutylcarbanol
found at the Site identified in the BACKGROUND section of this Notice constitute
hazardous waste under the RCRA and are required to be managed so as to not cause
endangerment to the public or the environment.  The RCRA specif ically  protects
groundwater.   
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The liabil ity of Polluters stems from either their ownership or operation of the
identifi ed Site, or activities conducted on the Site by Polluters which violate the RCRA and
have contributed to the past or present handling, storage, treatment, transportation, or
disposal of any hazardous waste which may present an imminent and substantial
endangerment to health or the environment.  Citizens also allege Polluters to be in violation
of a permit, standard, regulation, condition, requirement, prohibition, or order which has
become effective pursuant to the RCRA.  

Polluters are guilty of open dumping  as that term is used in the RCRA, by discharging
pollutants including petrochemicals, potassium xanthate, copper sulfate, arsenic, and
methylisobutylcarbanol, classifi ed as hazardous wastes pursuant to the RCRA, to the open
ground, allowing these pollutants to discharge to both groundwater and surface waters.  The
Site identifi ed in this Notice does not qualify as a landfil l under 42 U.S.C. § 6944, and does
not qualify as a facil ity for the disposal of hazardous waste.  Polluters have no RCRA-
authorized permit for disposal, storage or treatment of solid or hazardous waste of the type
currently and historically  discharged at the identified Site.  Polluters’ failure to comply with
these requirements is a violation of RCRA § 3004, 42 U.S.C. § 6924.   Information currently
available to Citizens indicates that Polluters’  handling, treatment, storage, transportation,
and/or disposal of their hazardous waste in violation of RCRA § 3004 has occurred every day
since at least July 1, 2004, and that those violations are continuing.

 The liabili ty of Polluters also stems from their ownership or operation of discrete
conveyances, ponds or preferential pathways  which have caused pollutants to be discharged
to surface water and groundwaters via Polluters’ conduits such as pipes, leach lines, storm
drains, uti l i ties and the like, facil itating pollutant migration and discharge to waters of the
State of California and the United States, and contributing to the past or present handling,
storage, treatment, transportation, or disposal of any hazardous waste which may present an
imminent and substantial endangerment to health or the environment. 

3. The discharger  responsible for the alleged violation.

The dischargers responsible for the alleged violations are the addressees of this Notice
and the entities identified herein, collectively referred to as “Polluters” throughout this
Notice.

4. The date or dates of violation or a reasonable range of dates duri ng which
the alleged activit ies occur r ed.

Polluters have been in continuous operation prior to the passage of the RCRA and
have been violating the RCRA ever since it was passed.   The RCRA is a strict liabil ity 
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statute with a statute of limitations of 5 years.  Therefore, the range of dates covered by this
Notice is July 1, 2004 through the date of this Notice letter.   Citizens will from time to time
update and supplement this Notice to include all violations by Polluters which occur after the
date of this Notice.  

 The violations identified in this Notice including: discharging pollutants to
groundwater  and surface waters; failure to obtain RCRA-authorized permits; failure to
implement the requirements of the RCRA; failure to properly label, track or report the type,
quantity or disposition of waste; failure to use a manifest system to ensure waste generated
is properly handled, stored, treated or disposed of; and, failure to meet water qualit y
objectives, are continuous.  Therefore each day is a violation.  Citizens believe all violations
set forth in this Notice are continuing in nature or will likely continue after the fil ing of a
lawsuit.  Specifi c dates of Polluters’  violations are evidenced in Polluters’  own records (or
lack thereof) or f iles and records of other regulatory agencies including the Regional Qualit y
Control Board (“RWQCB”) GeoTracker, Shasta County Health and local poli ce and fire
departments

5. The full name, address, and telephone number  of the per son/entity giving
noti ce. 

The persons giving this are Stuart Bennett and Bianca Augustine, 11413 French Gulch
Road, French Gulch, CA. 96033,  French Gulch - Upper Clear Creek Resource Management
Group of French Gulch, CA, and Northern Califo rnia River Watch, 500 North Main Street,
Suite 110, Sebastopol, CA 95472. 

Stuart Bennett and Bianca Augustine are individuals directly affected by Polluters’
i l legal acts as described in this Notice. They live adjacent to the Site identifi ed herein, and
downstream of its pollution. They are members of Northern Calif ornia River Watch.   

Members of the French Gulch - Upper Clear Creek Resource Management Group are
directly affected by Polluters’ ill egal acts as described in this Notice. They live and/or work
adjacent to the Site identifi ed herein, and downstream of its pollution.

Northern California River Watch is a non-prof it corporation, organized under the laws
of the State of California and dedicated to the protection and enhancement of the waters of
the State of California including all rivers, creeks, streams and groundwater in Northern
California.
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BACKGROUND

Polluters’ deposition and maintenance of mine waste at the Site identified in this
Notice causes and has caused the generation and discharge to the environment of a hazardous
waste.  Polluters have installed and maintained a system of ditches, pipes, drains, tanks,
catchments, pumps and percolation ponds to intercept, handle, store, treat, transport, and/or
to dispose of hazardous waste generated and released from said Site.   Polluters do not
possess permits for the handling, storage, treatment, transportation, and/or disposal of their
hazardous or solid waste at the Site.  Polluters’ unpermitted handling, storage, treatment,
transportation and/or disposal of  hazardous waste is a violation of RCRA § 3005, 42 U.S.C.
§ 6925. 

SITE DESCRIPTION

The Washington M ine is located approximately 2.6 air miles northwest of French
Gulch in western Shasta County, California. Access to the mine facil ities is provided via
unimproved dirt roads which extend from French Gulch Road.  The total surface area
affected by operations is about 5.5 acres.

The Washington Mine has historically been used solely for the extraction and
processing of gold-containing ore.  The mine has been in operation intermittently since 1852,
with the existing mill building being constructed in 1939.  The project site consists of
patented and un-patented claim blocks totaling 1,825 acres,  470 acres of which are patented.
Surface rights to the un-patented claims are administered by the Bureau of Land
Management.  The claims are located within several sections but are primarily  located in
Township 33 North, Range 7 West, Sections 16 and 17.  The sites l isted and identifi ed below
have been used since January 1, 1976 or are planned for current active operation.   

M ill  Site

The mill site is on a long, narrow bench at the 2,400-foot elevation. The mill processes
ore from the mine.  An office is located in the vicinity of the mill building. Three 1,000-
gallon diesel, aboveground storage tanks (“AST”) and one 200-gallon gasoline AST are
present at the site.  All f our tanks are located approximately 100 feet east of the site adit. A
tail ings thickener and two air compressors are also located between the mill building and
adit. The air compressors are located on a concrete foundation immediately adjacent to the
AST east of the site adit, while the thickener is located directly on the ground surface above
the former percolation settling ponds. 
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A reverse osmosis water treatment system has been installed immediately west of the
tail ings thickener. The water treatment system is designed to remove all dissolved ions,
including heavy metal ions.  The system will be uti l ized to treat excess mine mil l ing
industrial waters, as well as to provide water for showers, sinks, and toilets. The system
currently in place provides approximately 15 gallons per minute of water.  The waste from
this system is il legally discharged offsite.

Following treatment, waste water not required for mining and mill ing operations is
surface applied at the areas being actively reclaimed to the west of the site adit. The process
water is over applied and runs off the site entering surface waters.

Storm water runoff  is supposed to be confi ned to the long bench containing these
facil ities, as French Gulch Road is immediately above the mill building, and intercepts and
diverts runoff from upslope of the mill bench.

Potential pollutants include petrochemicals, potassium xanthate, copper sulfate,
arsenic, methylisobutylcarbanol and sediment.

Most Recent Adit 

The most recent  adit is located approximately 360 feet southwest of the existing mill
site. The adit is located on the same long narrow bench containing the mill site, at an
elevation of 2,400 feet. This bench formerly contained a percolation pond and tail ings
settl ing pond, which have since been fil led but not remediated. None of the pollutants from
the percolation ponds including arsenic were removed and they continue to leak into the
groundwater or are washed offsite during rain events.

The new adit is considerably larger in width (14 feet wide x 13 feet high) compared
to other site adits, in order to util ize rubber-tired, diesel-powered equipment to haul waste
rock and ore to the surface. The new adit wil l connect to the Robillard, I-Level and Barnes
Adits.  French Gulch (Nevada) Mining Corporation  will obtain ore from the existing adits;
however, the ore will primarily be hauled through the new portal, rather than through the
existing portals.

Boneyard

To the southwest of the mill site is another long, narrow bench known as the
Boneyard. The Boneyard contains no permanent structures.  It has been used in the past for
stockpil ing materials and supplies.  The Boneyard is approximately 200 feet long by up to
40 feet wide, and is at an elevation of 2,400 feet.  Drainage in the vicinity of the Boneyard
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appears to be by sheet flow and drainage channels. The Boneyard, which is highly
contaminated with toxic metals including arsenic, has never been remediated. Pollutants
leach into the groundwater and are also washed off  site during rain events. 

Robillard Adit and Escapeway

The Robill ard Adit is at an elevation of 2,360 feet, located southeast of the mill .  Its
staging area consists of two long, narrow benches. The larger upper bench is at the level of
the adit, and contains 18-gauge rail for ore carts, which are no longer in use. The rail extends
on a trestle over the lower bench. A two-foot-high safety berm is present along the outer edge
of the lower bench. Waste rock was once disposed of by pushing it over the edge of the lower
bench, creating a barren and relatively unstable slope below the bench.

At times, waste water and acid drainage flows by gravity out of the adit and into the
Scorpion Creek drainage. The Robillard Escapeway is located roughly 200 feet north-
northwest of the Robillard Adit.  The portal to the Escapeway has caved in and is no longer
proposed for use.  It is on a south-facing slope at an elevation of about 2,480 feet.  An access
road about 250 feet in length extends from the tail ing disposal road to the Escapeway.
Drainage in the vicinity of the Escapeway appears to be by sheet fl ow toward a ditch running
along French Gulch Road.  Storm water runoff throughout the area is a signifi cant source of
pollution to Scorpion Creek.

2630 Level Adit

The 2630 Level Adit is on an east-facing slope at an elevation of about 2,625 feet,
located northeast of the mill. The staging area of the adit consists of a single bench with a
short access spur extending east to the access road for the tail ings disposal site. Currently,
the staging area is being util ized to store dril l cores generated during mine exploration. The
adit was illegally  constructed by a previous mine operator.  A metal storage bin was formerly
used to access the adit and is sti l l  present. The adit itself has since collapsed and is not
proposed for future use. Drainage in the vicinity of the adit appears to be by sheet flow
toward the tail ings disposal road.

I-L evel Adit

The I-Level Adit is on an east-facing slope at an elevation of about 2,160 feet, located
in the northeastern portion of the site. Ore is currently being mined from the adit and
transported via haul trucks to the new adit staging area.
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Similar to the Robillard Adit, waste water and acid drainage flows by gravity out of
the I-Level Adit and makes its way to surface waters including adjacent waters of the United
States.  The pollutants flow into a small settl ing pond just outside the I-Level and then
indirectly into the Right Fork of the French Gulch. 

Taili ngs Disposal site

The tailings disposal site is on an east-facing slope at an elevation of 2,800 feet.
Tail ings deposited at the disposal site were periodically leveled and contoured or bermed,
creating the steep face of the stockpile.  Erosion at the disposal site has formed a signifi cant
gully on the eastern side of the site.  Tail ings at the site have been observed down slope of
the gully, washed down during storm events. The potential contaminants in the tail ings, the
continued erosion of the gully itself, as well as the overall stabil ity of the site are signifi cant
concerns to Citizens.

The site is currently being util ized for storage of waste rock generated from mining
activities at the new site adit. Storm water runoff at the site flows in an easterly direction
toward the gully or toward a road washout and smaller gully located on the right side of the
tail ings disposal site access road. Storm water runoff appears to flow into the Right Fork of
French Gulch from both gullies.

Retention Pond

One unlined retention pond is present immediately east of the I-Level portal. The pond
receives discharge from the adit and allows sediment to settle prior to flowing out of the
pond.  Wastewater flows from the pond into a pipe and over ground into the Right Fork of
French Gulch. 

FACILITY OPERATIONS

There are no storm water discharge systems on site. Surface waters in the vicinity of
the actively used mine sites consist of perennial streams which flow either to the north or
east through the Right Fork of the French Gulch or to the south through Scorpion Gulch.

Groundwater currently flows by gravity out of the Robillard and I-Level Adits.
Wastewater is discharged off-site. Process water is applied via irrigation sprinklers to the
area west of the mill  formerly used for taili ngs storage, the bench area west of the new portal,
and the Boneyard area at the extreme west end of the site. This improper disposal and
discharge leaches pollutants into the groundwater and to surface waters including waters of
the United States.
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Sources of pollutants in storm water discharge at the Washington Mine include the
mill ing process, vehicle and equipment fueling, usage and maintenance, materials storage,
road maintenance and other activities. The majority of industrial processes at the site take
place at the existing mill site.  The area between the mill and the new adit that cannot be used
for alternative applications, such as road building material, rip-rap, etc., will  be used on-site
to reclaim previously disturbed areas.  This will include the area west of the mill, which was
previously used for tail ings storage, as well as the bench area past the proposed new portal
and the Boneyard area at the extreme west end of the site. The intent is to spread and
compact the mine waste rock, ultimately restoring the natural prof ile of the hill side. This fill
system will be engineered to ensure long-term stability of the emplaced materials.

Ore is withdrawn from the surface stockpiles and fed to the crusher with a front-end
loader. Crushed and screened ore is conveyed by belt, to a 500-ton fine ore bin. Ore is
withdrawn from the bin and fed to the grinding mill by an apron feeder conveyor
combination. The ore is ground in the mill and separated by cyclone classifi ers into coarse
and fine fractions. The fine fraction is sent to a Falcon concentrator. The coarse fraction
returns to the grinding mill  for further size reduction.  In the Falcon concentrator, the gold
is separated from the other minerals by centrifugal force.  The gold concentrate is collected
and sent to the melt room. 

The tailings from the Falcon concentrator are then further processed on shaking tables.
The shaking tables use the dif ferences in specif ic gravity of the gold and the other minerals
to recover the very fine gold in the grind mixture.  The recovered gold from the shaking
tables is transferred to the melt room. 

The tail ings from the shaking tables are then pumped to the flotation conditioner tanks
where they are mixed with a flotation collector in solution.  The collector chemical
(potassium xanthate) forms a bond with sulfi de minerals which are in contact or surround
some of the recoverable gold. The xanthate causes the sulf ide minerals to become
hydrophobic and amenable to forming a bond with air bubbles.  The conditi oned slurry is
then transferred to a series of f lotation cells in which air is injected into the cell  to form
bubbles. A frother, methyli sobutylcarbanol is injected to help form air bubbles during the
flotation process, and copper sulfate is injected to enhance the attachment of the metal
sulfi des to the air bubbles in the flotation cells. As the bubbles float upward through the
slurry, the sulfi de minerals attach to the bubbles and are drawn off into a launder at the top
lip of the cell.  The gangue minerals do not attach to the bubbles and are transferred along
the bottom of the cell to the next cell i n the bank. Ultimately, the slurry, which contains a
concentration of toxic metals such as arsenic, lead, copper and zinc, flows to the tail ings 
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thickener where it is partially de-watered prior to final disposition as backfil l in the mine.
Two thirds of the tailing volume is typically  used in backf ill ing, one third is deposited in
chambers built f or final disposal or for eventual recycling to stopes as backf ill. 

The concentrated minerals recovered from the flotation process will then flow to a
series of disc f ilt ers where they will  be de-watered. The f ilt er cake from the disc f ilt ers will
be collected in bags and shipped off  site to be further processed. Waters uti l ized in the
industrial processes are often il legally discharged. The mill does not have a sulfi de roaster
or an autoclave to treat the sulf ides and recover the gold on-site. Ore ingots will  be cast in
the melt facil ity from gravity concentrates.

OTHER NON-PERMITTED DISCHARGE

Other than previously described, other non-permit ted water discharge at the site
includes the wastewater and acid leachate flowing by gravity out of the Robillard, I-Level
and Barnes adits and into the Right Fork of the French Gulch or into Scorpion Gulch,
discharges from trucks and other equipment for dust control and for the elimination of excess
process waters, discharges from ponds and piping, and il legal releases of process water.

SOIL EROSION

All the soils mapped within the vicinity of the Washington Mine site have a
signifi cant potential for erosion.  The areas west of the mill and new adit that will be
reclaimed with mine waste rock will serve as areas with a high potential for erosion. Runoff
from the access roads throughout the property is an additional source of soil  erosion and
sediment loss from the site. The roads are improperly maintained leading to il legal discharges
and pollution during rains.

The main erosion control and site stabil ization concern at the site revolves around the
areas proposed to be actively reclaimed with mine waste rock.  Polluters have used mine
waste rock for erosion control and reclamation. However the waste rock contains high
amounts of toxic metals and sediment. The use of the mine waste rock causes stabili ty
problems. Erosion control concerns present a problem in all areas where soil has been placed
and vegetation has not had ample time to become established.  Polluters currently use a
combination of silt fencing, straw wattles, and straw bales around soil stockpiles and
downslope of highly erodable areas, such as areas being actively reclaimed.  These measures
are clearly inadequate as they allow large amounts of pollutants, toxic metals and sediment
to be washed off  site and into creek and streams. 
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Runoff from the access roads throughout the property is a serious cause of soil erosion
pollution and sediment loss from the site. The roads are not properly maintained.   Waste
rock containing toxic metals such as arsenic and copper are used to surface roads and then
are leached out during rains as well as when Polluters discharges waste water as part of its
“ dust control” . 

GOOD HOUSEKEEPING

Good housekeeping includes maintaining a clean and orderly work environment.  A
clean and orderly work area reduces the possibil ity of accidental spil ls caused by the
mishandling of equipment or materials and should reduce safety hazards to personnel.  It also
reduces the chance of storm water coming into contact with spil led or improperly stored or
placed signifi cant materials.  Currently Polluters have not implemented good housekeeping
practices.

CONTI NUING VI OLAT I ONS

In a recent Order and Transmittal of Inspection Report (“Order”) , dated June 3, 2009,
from the RWQCB to Gerhard Nel, President, French Gulch Nevada Mining Co., the
RWQCB detailed ongoing violations at the site: 

There are several sources of waste at the Site that contain appreciable
concentrations of arsenic and other heavy metals....Based on the concentration
of arsenic in these wastes and the presence of other heavy metals, each of these
wastes ware classifi ed as Group B mining wastes pursuant to Title 27 of the
California Code of Regulations (Title 27). Such wastes must be placed in a
containment facil ity constructed to prevent the infiltration of rainwater and the
discharge of wastes to surface or ground water....Currently there is a discharge
of mine drainage from the I-Level adit to a surface water drainage course.
(Order pg.1)   

Over the past two and one-half years, samples of water discharging from the
mine portals and surface waters, including Scorpion Gulch and French Gulch,
have been collected and analyzed by BRGC and the Regional Water Board
staff (Tables 1-4). The water analyses indicate that signifi cant concentrations
of metals, most problematic arsenic, are discharging from the mine adits and
impacting surface waters. (Order pg.2)

We then proceeded to the I-Level adit (Figure 1, Photo 1). This portal is on
BLM land and BRGC conducted mining activities in this area. Mine drainage
was flowing from this portal at approximately 10 gpm and was discharging
down a steep ravine leading to French Gulch. (Order pg.3) 
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The suspension of mining operations at the Washington M ine has not resulted
in the cessation of the discharge of mine drainage from the various adits or
reduced the threat of a discharge of waste constituents from the tail ings and
waste rock disposal facil ities. (Order pg.4-SUMMARY)

 Citizens take the position that adequate monitoring should be conducted throughout
the entire effected area. In general, Citizens believe remediation must be conducted
proactively to remove existing threats both to the environment and to individuals who live
in the area of the Washington Mine site.

Pollutants have been discharged from the site to Citizens’  residential or recreational
areas for decades as well.   As a direct result of  Polluters’  violations of the RCRA, Citizens
have suffered loss of property value and habitability, and have experienced numerous adverse
health effects, including systemic problems, sleep disturbance, emotional distress, and the
like.  Discharges by Polluters continue to this day as do the adverse effects of prior
discharges.  As required by the RCRA and California’ s implementation of the RCRA,
Polluters have: failed to prevent a release, failed to properly detect and monitor releases,
failed to properly report and keep records of  releases, and failed to take proper corrective
action.  Polluters continue to discharge pollutants to groundwater and surface waters, and
have failed to obtain RCRA-authorized permits, implement the requirements of the RCRA,
meet water quality objectives, properly label, track or report the type, quantity or disposition
of the waste or use a manifest system to ensure that the waste generated is properly handled,
stored, treated or disposed of.   All of these violations are ongoing. 

REGULA TORY  STA NDARDS

            Maximum Contamination Levels and Water Quality Objectives exist to ensure
protection of the benefi cial uses of water.   Several beneficial uses of water at the effected
area exist, and the most stringent water quality objectives for protection of all beneficial uses
are selected as the protective water quality criteria.  Alternative cleanup and abatement
actions need to be considered which evaluate the feasibil ity of, at a minimum: (1) cleanup
to background levels, (2) cleanup to levels attainable through application of best practicable
technology, and (3) cleanup to protective water quality criteria levels.  Existing and potential
beneficial uses of area groundwater include domestic, recreational, agricultural, industrial
and municipal water supply. 

The RWQCB has adopted a Water Quality Control Plan or “Basin Plan”, which
designates all groundwater and surface water within the region as capable of supporting
domestic water supply.

The pollutants at the site have been characterized as “hazardous waste”  and “solid
waste”  within the meaning of the provisions of the RCRA.  Accordingly, all regulatory 
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mandates applicable to hazardous or solid waste apply to the use, storage and disposal of
these constituents and products.

Citizens allege Polluters to be in violation of a permit, standard, regulation, condition,
requirement, prohibition, or order which has become effective pursuant to the RCRA.   

Citizens allege Polluters to be past or present generators, past or present transporters,
or past or present owners or operators of a treatment, storage, or disposal facil ity. Citizens
allege Polluters have contributed to or to be contributing to the past or present handling,
storage, treatment, transportation, or disposal of any solid or hazardous waste which may
present an imminent and substantial endangerment to health or the environment.

Polluters are guilty of open dumping as that term is used in the RCRA, by discharging
pollutants including arsenic and other toxic metals to the open ground allowing these
pollutants to discharge to both groundwater and surface waters.  The Washington Mine site
does not qualify as a landfil l under 42 U.S.C. § 6944, and does not qualify as a facil ity for
the disposal of hazardous waste.   Polluters have no RCRA- authorized permit for disposal,
storage or treatment of solid or hazardous waste of the type currently and historically
discharged at the Facil ity.

 Ongoing violations of the RCRA as described herein have occurred  between July
1, 2004 and the date of this Notice letter.  Polluters have threatened to cause or permit, or
have caused or permitted hazardous waste to be discharged or deposited at the site where it
is, or probably will be, discharged into waters of the State of California or waters of the
United States and now creates, or threatens to create, a condition of pollution or nuisance.
The discharge and threatened discharge of such waste is deleterious to the beneficial uses of
water, and is creating and threatens to create a conditi on of pollution and nuisance which will
continue unless the discharge and threatened discharge is permanently abated.

Past or current violations of the RCRA authorize the assessment of civil penalties.
The enforcement provisions of 42 U.S.C. §§ 6928(a) and 6928(g) provide for the payment
of penalties when conditions of hazardous waste disposal have been alleged as in this Notice
with respect to the Washington M ine site.  Accordingly, under these provisions, persons or
entities violating the RCRA are subject to substantial liability to the United States on a per-
day basis.

Polluters’  use and storage of wastes at the site between July 1, 2004 and the date of
this Notice have allowed signifi cant quantities of hazardous constituents to be released or
discharged into soil, surface and groundwaters in violation of provisions of the RCRA as
well as California’s hazardous waste regulatory programs.
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Contaminant levels of arsenic and other toxic metals in groundwater and soils at the
site are signifi cantly greater than the allowable Maximum Contaminant Level and Water
Quality Objectives for said constituents.  Arsenic, potassium xanthate, copper sulfate, and
methylisobutylcarbanol are known carcinogens or reproductive toxins.  All are known to
harm both plants and animals.   In their concentrations at the site these pollutants are creating
an imminent and substantial endangerment to public health and the environment.
  

A lthough the RCRA is a strict liabil ity statute Citizens believe the violations of the
RCRA by Polluters alleged in this Notice are knowing and intentional in that Polluters in the
past have used, stored, treated, transported and disposed of pollutants which are known to
contain hazardous substances, and in that Polluters have intended the acts described herein.
Polluters have known of the contamination at the site since at least January of 2007, when
recent water sampling commenced, and Citizens believe Polluters knew of the contamination
years earlier.  Polluters have also known that fail ing to promptly remediate the pollution
allows the contamination to migrate through soil and groundwater at and adjacent to the site
and to continually contaminate and re-contaminate actual and potential sources of drinking
water in addition to surface waters.  

As discussed herein, Citizens are alleging violations of Subtitle C of the RCRA with
regard to both violation of a permit, standard, regulation, condition, requirement, prohibition
or order effective under the RCRA and for an imminent and substantial endangerment to
human health or the environment. 

V iolations of the RCRA of the type alleged herein are a major cause of the continuing
decline in water quality and pose a continuing threat to existing and future drinking water
supplies of California.  With every discharge, groundwater supplies are contaminated.  These
discharges can and must be controlled in order for the groundwater supply to be returned to
a safe source of drinking water.

          In additi on to the violations set forth above, this Notice is intended to cover all
violations of the RCRA evidenced by information which becomes available to Citizens  after
the date of this Notice, and seeks all penalties and other enforcement provisions related to
such violations.

The violations of Polluters as set forth in this Notice affect the health and enjoyment
of Citizens  who reside, work and recreate in the affected area.  Citizens use this watershed
for domestic water supply, agricultural water supply, recreation, sports, residing, fishing,
swimming, hiking, photography, nature walks and the like.  Their health, property rights, use
and enjoyment of this area is specifi cally impaired by Polluters’  violations of the RCRA as
set forth herein.
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Wayne Nastri, Regional Administrator
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Region 9
75 Hawthorne Street 
San Francisco, California 94105-3901

Dorothy R. Rice, Executive Director
State Water Resources Control Board
P.O. Box 100
Sacramento, California 95812-0100

Executive Director
Calif. Integrated Waste Mgmt. Board
1001 “I” Street
Sacramento, CA 95814

French Gulch (Nevada) Mining Corp. 
c/o Richard K. Thompson, Registered Agent
6121 Lakeside Drive # 260
Reno, CA 89511
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